ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Lexington County

DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

FEB 16 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

MATTHEW J. EARGLE,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-001761

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
P.O. Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel were violated when plea counsel failed to have Petitioner evaluated immediately before he pled guilty and failed to request a competency hearing pursuant to State v. Blair, 275 S.C. 529, 273 S.E.2d 536 (1981), and where Petitioner was prejudiced because there is a reasonable probability that Petitioner was incompetent at the time of the plea due to his severe mental illness?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner has a long documented history of major mental illness dating back before his teenage years. App. 124. Since he was a young child, he has suffered from emotional stress, anxiety, and depression. App. 124. At nine years old, Petitioner began "self-mutilation practices," such as cutting his arms and legs and swallowing razor blades. App. 124. He has been hospitalized on numerous occasions throughout his life due to his depression and tendency to harm himself. In order to manage his illness, Petitioner takes a regimen of psychotropic medications. He has been treated at the Patrick B. Harris Psychiatric Hospital in Anderson, the Gilliam Psychiatric Hospital in Columbia, and the Geo Care Columbia Regional Care Center. App. 124.

In May 2012, Petitioner was arrested for armed robbery, kidnapping, and possession of a weapon by a convicted felon. App. 15, ll. 19-23. While Petitioner was incarcerated at the local detention center after his arrest, he attempted to commit suicide by cutting his arms. His injuries were so severe that he required over one hundred stitches. App. 22, ll. 9-14. As a result of this suicide attempt, Petitioner was housed by himself in "the tank" at the Lexington County Detention Center and put on suicide watch. "The tank" is a small cell in the booking area that only has a toilet. Petitioner was made to wear a "turtle suit," which is a "little green thing that straps over your shoulder." He was not allowed to wear clothes and he did not have access to a mattress, a pillow, a toothbrush, or any other essentials. App. 61, ll. 9-22.

A couple of months after Petitioner's suicide attempt, he was hospitalized at the Geo Care Columbia Regional Care Center, also known as Just Care, for treatment. At Geo Care, Petitioner received regular counseling and "was in population around other people." He was also prescribed different medications than the medications he received at the detention center. App.

62, ll. 4-8. The medication Petitioner was prescribed at Geo Care was more effective than the regimen he was taking at the detention center. Overall, his mental health improved at Geo Care and Petitioner did not try to harm himself while he was there. App. 62, ll. 4-10.

While Petitioner was hospitalized at Geo Care, he was evaluated by a forensic psychiatrist to determine whether he was competent to stand trial pursuant to State v. Blair, 275 S.C. 529, 273 S.E.2d 536 (1981) and S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-410. This evaluation took place on August 29, 2012. The examiner ultimately found Petitioner was competent to stand trial. She concluded that Petitioner was “not currently experiencing symptoms of a mental illness to such an extent that they would significantly compromise his present capacity to understand the proceedings against him or to assist in his own defense.” App. 137-144. She also diagnosed Petitioner with depression, not otherwise specified, antisocial personality disorder, and borderline personality disorder. App. 137. The report of her findings was submitted on September 26, 2012. App. 144.

After a two week stay at Geo Care, Petitioner was transported back to the Lexington County Detention where he was again housed in “the tank.” Petitioner’s mental health began to deteriorate again in part due to the conditions of “the tank” and because he was prescribed different medications than he was taking at Geo Care. These medications were less effective at managing his illness. App. 62, l. 21 – 63, l. 12.

On October 3, 2012, less than five months after his arrest, Petitioner pled guilty to kidnapping pursuant to North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25 (1970) before the Honorable Roger M. Young. App. 1. Petitioner waived presentment to the Lexington County Grand Jury. App. 154-155. Assistant Solicitor Lawrence G. Wedekind represented the state, and Circuit Public Defender Robert M. Madsen represented Petitioner. App. 1.

On the morning before he pled guilty, an officer came to "the tank," gave Petitioner a uniform, and told him he was going to court. App. 63, ll. 13-18. As Petitioner was getting ready to leave, he briefly saw his mental health counselor at the jail and told her his medication was not working and that he was not sleeping well. App. 63, l. 24 – 64, l. 3. This exchange was documented in Petitioner's mental health records.

Petitioner was unaware that he would be transported to court that day. When he got there, he spoke with plea counsel who told him *for the first time* that the state was willing to dismiss all of Petitioner's pending charges if he pled guilty to kidnapping without a sentence recommendation. App. 65, ll. 6-10. Petitioner felt very overwhelmed. Counsel had not informed Petitioner of the state's offer before that morning and he had little time process what was going on. App. 65, ll. 11-14. Petitioner later testified at the evidentiary hearing that he "didn't understand any of it" and that he was so overwhelmed he "just wanted to get out of there." App. 65, l. 11 – 66, l. 19.

At the beginning of the plea hearing, the solicitor informed the court that Petitioner had been evaluated for competency to stand trial and suggested the court conduct a Blair hearing to determine whether Petitioner was in fact competent. Before the judge could respond, plea counsel said he "stipulate[d] to the findings in the report" and that he believed Petitioner was competent. App. 4, ll. 1-10. Based on counsel's concession, the court did not hold a Blair hearing. The court said, "Well, it does sound like he [Petitioner] has some mental health issues, but according to the examining doctor here [the one who evaluated Petitioner in August 2012] they do not rise to the level of interfering with his ability to understand what he is going or to assist his counsel. *Defense counsel has concurred in that, so at this point I'd have to go along*

with it.” App. 5, l. 25 – 6, l. 6 (emphasis added). The court made no independent determination that Petitioner was competent to plead guilty.

The court ultimately accepted Petitioner’s plea and sentenced him to twenty five years’ imprisonment. App. 14, l. 23 – 15, l. 1; App. 27, ll. 7-8.

At the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner testified that he never wanted to plead guilty and that he had never asked plea counsel to negotiate a plea agreement with the solicitor on his behalf. Petitioner asserted that if he would have “been thinking clearly” that day, he would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on exercising his right to a jury trial. App. 60, ll. 4-7; App. 67, ll. 2-5.

On January 15, 2013, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 29-35. The state filed a return to this application dated June 12, 2013. App. 36-42. With the assistance of counsel, Petitioner filed an amended application raising the claim argued in this petition. App. 43-44. The state filed a memorandum of law on October 14, 2014. App. 45-49. An evidentiary hearing was convened on October 15, 2014 before the Honorable DeAndrea G. Benjamin. Assistant Attorney General Walt Whitmire represented the state, and Kristy Goldberg represented Petitioner. App. 50.

Dr. Thomas Martin, who was qualified as an expert in forensic psychiatry, testified on Petitioner’s behalf at the evidentiary hearing. In addition to reviewing Petitioner’s extensive mental health records, Dr. Martin also met with Petitioner on April 23, 2014 for approximately three hours at Kirkland Correctional Institution where he was housed. App. 75, l. 25 – 76, l. 2. Dr. Martin explained that Gilliam Psychiatric Hospital is located within Kirkland and the institution has the greatest number of psychiatric and mental health resources of all the

institutions within the South Carolina Department of Corrections. This is why Petitioner was placed at Kirkland. App. 78, ll. 4-9.

Dr. Martin ultimately diagnosed Petitioner with depressive disorder, not otherwise specified and personality disorder, not otherwise specified with antisocial and borderline features. App. 126. He testified that the medications Petitioner was taking while at Kirkland were the same medications Petitioner was prescribed while at Geo Care in August 2012 when he was evaluated for competency to stand trial. App. 77, l. 22 – 78, l. 9. Dr. Martin found these psychotropic medications, which included a mood stabilizer called Neurontin, an antidepressant called Remeron, and a sedative to help Petitioner sleep called Trazodone, to be effective. However, while incarcerated at the Lexington County Detention Center, Petitioner was prescribed the mood stabilizer Lamictal, as well as Benadryl and Ativan, which were used to help Petitioner sleep. Dr. Martin testified that these medications were not effective in managing and treating Petitioner's mental illness. App. 78, l. 13 – 80, l. 11. Because they were not working, Petitioner stopped taking these medications and "self-discontinued" shortly before he pled guilty. Petitioner informed the psychiatrist at the jail of this fact the morning of his guilty plea. He also told the psychiatrist he was not sleeping well. Dr. Martin noted that this was documented in Petitioner's mental health records from the jail. App. 79, l. 16 – 81, l. 7.

Dr. Martin asserted that "competence is a fluid construct entity" and, consequently, "needs to be checked periodically." App. 82, ll. 10-12. He explained, "[M]ental illness is never a perfectly linear plateau. Mental illness changes. Medications change. Environment will change and [these factors] can in a positive way or in a negative way affect levels of competency." App. 83, ll. 19-25. Because Petitioner has a "very erratic mental health history that has been very difficult to manage over the years," Dr. Martin said Petitioner should have

been watched closely. Moreover, he opined that Petitioner should have been evaluated for competency immediately before he pled guilty and a Blair hearing should have been conducted so the court could determine whether Petitioner was competent to plead guilty that day. App. 84, l. 12 – 88, l. 18.

Lastly, and significantly, Dr. Martin exclaimed that, because of Petitioner's erratic mental health, Martin had concerns regarding whether Petitioner was competent on the day he ultimately pled guilty. App. 86, ll. 14-18.

Rob Madsen, Petitioner's plea counsel, testified that Petitioner "seemed normal" to him, but given Petitioner's history of mental illness and his previous suicide attempts, Madsen submitted a request on July 31, 2012 to have Petitioner evaluated for competency to stand trial. He received the psychiatrist's report on September 27, 2012, which indicated Petitioner was competent at the time of the evaluation. App. 98, l. 9 – 99, l. 19.

Madsen corroborated Petitioner's testimony that he was brought to court on the morning of October 3, 2012 without any warning or notice. Madsen said the solicitor "put him [Petitioner] on the list to bring him over to court without any notice to me and, of course, there was no notice to him since I did not know." Counsel, as well as Petitioner, learned of the plea offer for the first time that morning. App. 101, ll. 12-20. Madsen admitted he was hesitant to go forward with a guilty plea that morning because Petitioner "had always maintained through the course of representation that he hadn't done it, that it was kind of a quasi drug deal owing some money." App. 102, ll. 1-8. This is why Madsen suggested Petitioner plead guilty pursuant to North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25 (1970). App. 102, ll. 9-20.

Madsen claimed Petitioner “seemed that morning the same as any other time that I had met with him” and therefore Madsen “stipulated” to Petitioner’s competency and went forward with the guilty plea. App. 101, ll. 16-23.

By order filed August 12, 2016, the PCR court denied Petitioner relief. App. 146-153. The court found Petitioner failed to prove counsel was ineffective for not having Petitioner evaluated immediately before he pled guilty and for failing to require the plea court conduct a Blair hearing to determine whether Petitioner was competent to plead guilty. App. 150-151. The court emphasized the fact that Petitioner was evaluated in August 2012 and found to be competent to stand trial. App. 150-151. The court also noted plea counsel’s testimony that based on his observations, he believed Petitioner was competent. App. 150-151. Lastly, the court found “Dr. Martin was unable to render a finding on [Petitioner’s] competency on the day of the plea” and therefore Petitioner could not prove prejudice. App. 151-152.

Because plea counsel was ineffective for failing to have Petitioner evaluated to determine whether he was competent to stand trial immediately before he pled guilty and require the court conduct a Blair hearing, and because there is a reasonable probability that Petitioner was incompetent at the time of his plea due to his severe mental illness, this petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel were violated when plea counsel failed to have Petitioner evaluated immediately before he pled guilty and failed to request a competency hearing pursuant to *State v. Blair*, 275 S.C. 529, 273 S.E.2d 536 (1981). Petitioner was prejudiced because there is a reasonable probability that Petitioner was incompetent at the time of the plea due to his severe mental illness.

Given counsel's awareness of Petitioner's long history of severe mental illness, his suicide attempt while he was incarcerated pretrial, and his subsequent treatment at Geo Care mere weeks before Petitioner pled guilty, counsel should have requested Appellant be evaluated to determine if he was competent to plead guilty immediately before his plea. Counsel also should have required the court hold a Blair hearing as the solicitor suggested. His failure to do so violated Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel. Moreover, as evidence by Dr. Martin's testimony at the evidentiary hearing, there is a reasonable probability that Petitioner was incompetent at the time of the plea due to his severe mental illness.

"The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees a defendant the right to effective assistance of counsel." Bailey v. State, 392 S.C. 422, 432, 709 S.E.2d 671, 676 (2011) (citing U.S. Const. amend. VI and Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)). In order to show ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, Petitioner must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686; see Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-688.

A two-pronged test is used to evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. In light of the fact that Petitioner pled guilty to the charged offense, Petitioner must show that counsel's performance was deficient and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985). Similarly, when a petitioner challenges counsel's failure to request a Blair hearing on his competency to stand trial, he must show that counsel was deficient and the deficiency prejudiced the outcome of the proceedings. Matthews v. State, 358 S.C. 456, 459, 596 S.E.2d 49, 50-51 (2004). To establish prejudice concerning counsel's failure to fully investigate Petitioner's mental capacity, Petitioner must show a reasonable probability that he was either insane at the time the crime was committed or incompetent at the time of the plea. Id. at 459, 596 S.E.2d at 50.

An individual's constitutional right to due process of law prohibits the conviction of an incompetent defendant. This right may not be waived by a guilty plea. Jeter v. State, 308 S.C. 230, 232, 417 S.E.2d 594, 595 (1992). The competency required to enter a guilty plea is the same as required to stand trial. Id. at 232, 417 S.E.2d at 596. The defendant must have the ability to consult with his attorney with a reasonable degree of rational understanding and have an understanding of the proceedings against him. Id.

Before Petitioner pled guilty, plea counsel was put on notice that Petitioner suffered from severe mental illness and had attempted to commit suicide on numerous occasions. Counsel learned from staff at the detention center that Petitioner had cut himself so badly that he had to be hospitalized and received over one hundred stitches to repair his wounds. Counsel was also aware that Petitioner was treated at Geo Care and was prescribed psychotropic medications to manage his illness. Petitioner told counsel on repeated occasions that he did not like being housed in "the tank" and that he was not feeling well. Counsel merely told Petitioner that he

“had to do better at the jail.” App. 71, ll. 16-20. Based on this information, counsel should have requested Petitioner be evaluated again immediately before he pled guilty and required the court hold a Blair hearing to determine if Petitioner was competent. Instead, because Petitioner “seemed normal” to counsel, who was not a medical doctor, counsel conceded Petitioner was competent. This was clearly deficient performance. See App. 98, l. 19.

Moreover, there is a reasonable probability that Petitioner was incompetent at the time of his guilty plea due to his severe mental illness. When Petitioner was evaluated in August 2012 and found competent to stand trial, he was hospitalized at Geo Care and receiving regular psychiatric counseling. He was also prescribed a different regimen of medications at Geo Care that was more effective at treating his illness and was placed “in population around other people” instead of in isolation as was the case when he was housed in “the tank.” App. 62, ll. 3-15. This is likely why Petitioner was found competent at the time of the evaluation.