THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-001761

RECEIVED

JUL 03 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

MATTHEW J. EARGLE,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

CAROLINE M. SCRANTOM
Assistant Attorney General

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The record supports the PCR court’s determination that plea counsel was not ineffective for stipulating to the results of the DMH report and for failing to make an independent request for a *Blair, infra*, hearing at the time of Petitioner’s plea because no communications existed which would have caused counsel to question whether Petitioner was competent to stand trial and because the trial court’s examination of Petitioner during the plea returned no question of competency.

- I. Petitioner’s issue is only preserved as to whether plea counsel rendered deficient performance by failing to join in the State’s request for a *Blair, infra*, hearing prior to the plea, and not as to whether plea counsel should have requested a new mental health evaluation immediately before the plea hearing, because the latter issue was not raised to or ruled upon by the PCR court.

“A party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal.” *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003). “In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge.” *Id.* at 142, 587 S.E.2d 693. In a PCR action, an applicant must move to alter or amend the court’s order of dismissal pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP, when that order does not address any particular claim. *Marlar v. State*, 375 S.C. 407, 410, 653 S.E.2d 266, 267 (2007). The failure to do so will result in the application of a procedural bar. *Id.*

The issue presented by Petitioner is only preserved as to whether counsel should have independently requested a competency hearing pursuant to *State v. Blair*, 275 S.C. 529, 533, 273

S.E.2d 536, 537 (1981) (“*Blair*”), prior to the plea, and not whether Petitioner should have been subject to an additional competency evaluation immediately before the plea. Plea counsel’s failure to independently request a *Blair* hearing and his stipulation to Petitioner’s competency was the issue presented to the PCR court. (App. 43, 55). The issue concerning whether plea counsel should have requested an additional competency evaluation immediately prior to the plea was never presented to the PCR court, nor was it addressed in the PCR court’s order of dismissal. (App. 146-53).

- II. Plea counsel did not provide deficient performance because the record demonstrates that counsel had no reason to question Petitioner’s competency at the time of the plea. Counsel had Petitioner evaluated by DMH, who found him competent to stand trial. Also, plea counsel did not oppose the State’s initial request for a *Blair* hearing, made the trial court aware of Petitioner’s mental health history, and utilized Petitioner’s mental health history in mitigation.

“In order to find that petitioner’s trial counsel was ineffective for refusing to request a *Blair* hearing on petitioner’s competency to stand trial, petitioner must show that counsel was deficient and that the deficiency prejudiced the outcome of petitioner’s proceedings.” *Matthews v. State*, 358 S.C. 456, 459, 596 S.E.2d 49, 50–51 (2004) (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984); *Gallman v. State*, 307 S.C. 273, 414 S.E.2d 780 (1992)). At all times during the proceeding, an applicant maintains the burden of establishing that he is entitled to relief. *Suber v. State*, 371 S.C. at 558, 640 S.E.2d at 886. Moreover, the proceeding is coupled with “a strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and exercised reasonable professional judgement in making all significant decisions in the case.” *Morris v. State*, 371 S.C. 278, 282, 639 S.E.2d 53, 55 (2006).

To prevail on the present issue before this Court, Petitioner had to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that he was incompetent when he entered his guilty plea. *Lee v. State*, 396 S.C. 314, 320-22, 721 S.E.2d 422, 466-47. “The test of competency to enter a plea is

the same as required to stand trial.” *Id.* (internal quotation omitted). That is, an “accused must have sufficient capability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable degree of rational understanding and have a rational as well as factual understanding of the proceedings against him.” *Id.*

Counsel’s representation cannot be found deficient when the record supports a finding that “counsel reasonably relied on his own perceptions” concerning his client’s competency. *Jeter v. State*, 308 S.C. 230, 233, 417 S.E.2d 594, 596 (1992). As found by the PCR court, counsel had Petitioner evaluated by DMH prior to the plea. Furthermore, the record demonstrates that Petitioner presented in competent manner at the time of the plea such that counsel cannot be found ineffective for failing to make an independent request for a *Blair* hearing. Nothing in the record can be construed to entertain the notion that plea counsel was on notice that Petitioner may not be competent on the day of the plea hearing.

At the outset of the plea, the State requested a *Blair* hearing. (App. 4). Plea counsel did not oppose a need for the hearing, but rather stipulated to the DMH’s evaluation which found Petitioner competent to stand trial. (App. 4). Plea counsel received this evaluation five days before the plea. (App. 137 (note fax date)). It was conducted on August 29, 2012, thirty-five days prior to the plea. (App. 137). The evaluation found Petitioner competent to stand trial, and categorized Petitioner’s symptoms as “best characterized by the diagnoses of Cocaine Dependence in a Controlled Environment, Antisocial personality Disorder, and Borderline Personality Disorder.” (App. 137-45). Plea counsel incorporated this document into the plea proceedings at the outset, candidly informing the court that he “would have never thought that [Petitioner] was someone who needed to be evaluated” had it not been for his discovery of

Petitioner's past suicide attempts. (App. 5). That information, according to counsel, caused him to feel "compelled to have him evaluated for competency." (App. 5).

Then, the court inquired of plea counsel whether he believed his client to be competent. (App. 13-14). Counsel represented to the court that he had no question about Petitioner's ability to assist in his own defense. (App. 14). Counsel stated: "As I mentioned, Your Honor, besides some of the historical stuff that I had received from him and some stuff from the jail, I wouldn't have had a question as to his competency if I had not have found out about those things." (App. 14).

Plea counsel later went on to describe Petitioner's suicide attempt wherein he "ended up with over a hundred stitches in his arm by cutting himself." (App. 22). This mitigation presentation went on to explain the conditions of Petitioner's confinement which cause him to deteriorate and his struggle with substance abuse and depression. (App. 21-23).

Furthermore, where the record demonstrates that a petitioner had a basic understanding of his charges and the criminal process, no finding of ineffective assistance can result. *Lee v. State*, 396 S.C. 314, 321, 721 S.E.2d 442, 446 (Ct. App. 2011). As previously outlined, the totality of the record indicates that Petitioner understood the charges against him and the proceedings which would occur as a result. The DMH evaluation noted that Petitioner could "adequately describe his current charges," the role of the judge, jury, trial witnesses, a solicitor, and his defense attorney. (App. 143). Petitioner also "explained the context of plea bargaining" and "courtroom decorum." (App. 144). No other testimony refutes this finding. Doctor Martin, who was retained by Petitioner for purposes of PCR, did not testify or opine as to whether Petitioner was competent at the time he entered his guilty plea. (App. 81-86).

Also as noted by the PCR court, counsel testified at PCR that when he met with Petitioner, he “asked appropriate questions” and counsel “had no problem communicating with him” in a manner which might raise concern as to whether the client was competent to stand trial. (App. 97). It was only his history as a cutter and the divulgence of some mental health history that triggered counsel’s determination that a mental health evaluation would be appropriate in this case. (App. 98-100). Counsel further testified that “during the plea [Petitioner] did in [counsel’s] opinion a very good elocution of kind of why he was doing the *Alford* plea, and telling the Judge and he answered all the questions appropriately so [he] never had any concern” about his competency. (App. 103-04).

The record of plea counsel’s observations and interactions with Petitioner during the course of his representation, coupled with the findings of mental health experts made part of the record in this case, demonstrates that plea counsel had no objectively reasonable basis to independently seek a *Blair* hearing prior to entry of the guilty plea, and did not render deficient performance by stipulating to the findings by DMH. The record thus supports the PCR court’s finding that counsel did not provide ineffective assistance in this regard.

III. No prejudice results because none of the records pertaining to Petitioner’s mental health indicate a reasonable probability that he was incompetent at the time of the plea, and because the record demonstrates that a *de facto Blair* hearing was conducted as part of the plea proceedings.

“When a PCR applicant raises issue of competency in the context of a plea proceeding, the two-prong *Strickland* analysis still applies; however, because of the nature of the claim, proof of deficiency of counsel is intertwined with prejudice.” *Ramirez v. State*, 419 S.C. 14, 21, 795 S.E.2d 841, 844-45 (2017). If a court determines that counsel rendered deficient performance, a PCR applicant is only then entitled to relief “if he demonstrates a reasonable probability that he was incompetent at the time he pled guilty.” *Id.* at 22, 795 S.E.2d at 845. “A reasonable

probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” *Gallman v. State*, 307 S.C. 273, 276, 414 S.E.2d 780, 782 (1992).

Petitioner cannot meet this standard. For reasons discussed herein, nothing in the record demonstrated a reasonable probability that Petitioner did not understand the nature of the proceedings or could not render adequate assistance in his defense. There are no competing opinions other than that issued by DMH concerning Petitioner’s competency to stand trial on the day of the plea. Petitioner’s expert, Dr. Martin, could not render an opinion as to whether Petitioner was competent from August to October 2012, including on the day of the guilty plea. (App. 81-86, 123-27). The record otherwise evidences that Petitioner did not have trouble communicating with counsel during consultations leading up to the plea. (App. 5, 14, 97-104).

Furthermore, Petitioner cannot demonstrate that he was prejudiced by counsel’s failure to independently request a *Blair* hearing because the failure to do so does “not waive the right to such hearing.” *State v. Blair*, 275 S.C. at 533, 273 S.E.2d at 537. Addressing S.C. Code Ann. §§ 44-23-410 and 44-23-430, *Blair* went on to hold that “a competency to stand trial hearing ‘shall’ be held after a psychiatric examination has been ordered.” *Id.* In this case, the State requested such a hearing, plea counsel stipulated to the competency findings, and then the court went on to accept Petitioner’s plea. (App. 4-15). The acceptance of a knowing, voluntary and intelligent guilty plea is a *de facto* finding of competency to go forward with the proceeding. “To find a guilty plea is voluntarily and knowingly entered into, the record must establish the defendant had a full understanding of the consequences of his plea and the charges against him.” *Roddy v. State*, 339 S.C. 29, 33, 528 S.E.2d 418, 421 (2000) (citing *Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S.Ct. 1709 (1969)).

Upon recognition of the DMH evaluation, the plea court noted:

Well, it does sound like [Petitioner] has some mental health issues, but according to the examining doctor here, they do not rise to the level of interfering with his ability to understand what he is doing or to assist his counsel. Defense counsel has concurred in that, so at this point I'd have to go along with it. **Let me talk with him a few minutes and we'll go forward.**

(App. 5-6 (emphasis added)). The plea court's colloquy indicated intent to inquire as to whether Petitioner was competent to proceed. The plea court then undertook a question-and-answer session with Petitioner which, while indicative of a standard plea colloquy, also elicited information regarding whether Petitioner understood the nature of the proceedings, and what effects his medications may have on his ability to enter a knowing and intelligent plea. (App. 6-17). Consider the following portion of the colloquy:

COURT: Do you know why you're taking those [drugs]?

PETITIONER: Supposed to keep me calm.

COURT: Well, is it working?

PETITIONER: Yes, sir.

COURT: It is helping you understand what you're doing a little bit better or does it make it worse?

PETITIONER: I guess a little better.

COURT: All right. So you take the prescribed amounts?

PETITIONER: Yes, sir.

COURT: When's the last time you took some?

PETITIONER: This morning.

COURT: And is that when you're supposed to regularly take it?

PETITIONER: Yes, sir.

...

COURT: What are you doing here today?

PETITIONER: Going to trial about some charges that I have.

COURT: Well, you told me you don't want to go to trial.

PETITIONER: Well, I mean I'm going before you on some charges I have.

...

(App. 8-9).

Later, the court inquired as to his age, education, and family history, during which time Petitioner offered comprehensive, rational responses. (App. 12-13). Petitioner later made a direct and coherent apology to the victims. (App. 24). Then, Petitioner went on to articulate his version of the kidnapping, explaining why he entered a plea pursuant to *Alford, supra*. (App. 25). The plea court's failure to halt proceedings indicates a finding of competency. Moreover, Petitioner's interactions with the court indicate that he embodied a rational and factual understanding of the proceedings. On this record, Petitioner cannot demonstrate prejudice.

CONCLUSION

Considering the foregoing, the State requests this Court deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.